

2008 BYLAWS



Leaders for Learning

Alabama Association of School Boards

Post Office Drawer 230488
Montgomery, AL 36123-0488

334/277-9700 • 800/562-0601 • info@AlabamaSchoolBoards.org

AASB Bylaws

ARTICLE I - Name

The name of this Association shall be: The Alabama Association of School Boards, Inc.

ARTICLE II - Purposes

The purposes of this Association shall be:

1. To promote responsible local lay control of the public schools.
2. To provide opportunities for the advancement of boardmanship skills.
3. To promote the general advancement of education.
4. To encourage the most efficient and effective organization and administration of the public schools.
5. To encourage establishment and maintenance of high standards in the conduct and operation of public schools.
6. To work for adequate financial support of public schools.
7. To study and interpret educational programs and to relate them to the needs of pupils.
8. To promote public understanding of the role of school boards and school board members in the improvement of education.
9. To act as a clearinghouse for the dissemination of pertinent data relating to all aspects of public education.
10. To conduct, independently or in cooperation with other organizations, corporations, institutes, foundations or persons, seminars, conferences, courses and research projects on education.
11. To study and interpret proposed legislation that may affect education, to disseminate such knowledge and information to school board members and others and to protect and improve public education.
12. To implement the policies, beliefs and resolutions of the Association.
13. To do such other things as the members, meeting in the Annual Convention or the Board of Directors, may deem appropriate for the accomplishment of these and other purposes to improve public education.

ARTICLE III - Members

Section 1. Classes of Membership

The membership of the Association shall consist of five classes: Active, Associate, Sustaining, Honorary and Special Members.

Section 2. Admissions & Qualifications

a. Active Members. Any legally constituted school board of any public school system in Alabama and the state Board of Education shall be eligible for active membership in this Association, and any or all of the board members may attend the convention and conferences of the Association by paying the published registration fee. There shall be no registration fee for attending the Delegate Assembly. Any such school board may become a member upon payment of dues or service fees, as herein provided, and approval by the Board of Directors.

Superintendents of such member school boards shall be non-voting affiliates of the Association without rights to hold elective or appointive offices.

b. Associate Members. Any individual interested in furthering the purposes of the Association, but not a member of a board of education, shall be eligible for associate membership. Associate members shall not be eligible to vote nor hold office. Their membership becomes effective upon approval by the executive director with affirmation by the Board of Directors and the payment of such dues.

c. Sustaining Members. Any individual, firm, corporation or organization which offers services or commodities for sale to school boards or to institutions of learning may apply for membership as a sustaining member of this Association. The membership becomes effective upon approval of said application by the Board of Directors and the payment of such dues. Sustaining members shall not be eligible to vote nor hold office.

d. Honorary Members. Any resident of Alabama who, in the opinion of the Association, has rendered distinguished service to the cause of public education in Alabama or to the Alabama Association of School Boards shall be eligible for honorary membership. Honorary members shall be elected by the Board of Directors of the Association. Honorary members shall not be eligible to vote nor hold office in the Association.

e. Special Members. Governing boards of public-supported educational institutions not otherwise eligible for membership shall be eligible for special membership upon application to and approval of the Board of Directors. Governing boards shall be defined as elected or appointed bodies authorized to execute policies governing the institution. Advisory boards or committees shall be excluded from this definition. Special members shall be entitled to one vote in the Delegate Assembly.

ARTICLE IV - Finances

Section 1. Dues

a. Dues for Active Members. Dues for active membership in the AASB shall be .0005 times a local school board's total state allocation, less that portion of said allocation for transportation, as reported by the State Department of Education. The amount of membership dues payable shall be limited by the following factors:

- (1) No active member school board shall pay membership dues in excess of \$12,000 in one year; and
- (2) No active member school board's membership dues shall increase by more than \$500 above the amount payable during the preceding membership year.

b. Dues for Associate Members, Sustaining Members, Honorary Members and Special Members. Dues for associate members, sustaining members, and special

members shall be set by the Association Board of Directors. Honorary members shall not be required to pay dues.

c. Dues for State Board. Dues for the state Board of Education shall be set by the Association Board of Directors.

d. Payment Schedule of Dues. The membership dues shall be due and payable in advance of July 1 of each year. Designation of an active member shall be contingent upon payment of said dues by November 1 of each year.

Section 2. Expenses

a. Expenses of officers, directors and committee members shall be in compliance with Article XI.

b. Expenses of delegates and alternates to the NSBA Delegate Assembly shall be in compliance with Articles XI and XII.

Section 3. Fiscal Year

The fiscal year of the Association shall extend from July 1 through June 30.

ARTICLE V - Officers Duties/Nominations/Elections

Section 1. Officers

The elective officers of the Association shall be a President, President-Elect and Vice President. The Immediate Past President is an officer of the association although not elected to the post.

Section 2. Duties of Officers

a. President. The President shall:

- (1) Preside at all meetings of the Delegate Assembly, the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee;
- (2) Appoint all standing and special committees subject to the approval of the Board of Directors;
- (3) Serve as an ex-officio member of Association committees except the Nominating Committee;
- (4) Authorize on behalf of the Association the signing of all contracts not specifically requiring the President's signature;
- (5) In consultation with Executive Director, name delegates to represent the Association at meetings of other educational associations, agencies and committees;
- (6) Be the official spokesperson for the Association along with the Executive Director;
- (7) Serve as a member of the Executive Committee;
- (8) Perform such other duties as may be prescribed by these Bylaws, the Delegate Assembly or the Board of Directors.

b. President-Elect. The President-Elect shall:

- (1) Perform all duties assigned to the President in the absence of the President;

- (2) Serve as a member of the Executive Committee;
- (3) Perform other duties as may be prescribed by these Bylaws, the Delegate Assembly or the Board of Directors.

c. Vice President. The Vice President shall:

- (1) Perform the duties of the President in the absence of the President and President-Elect;
- (2) Serve as a member of the Executive Committee;
- (3) Perform other duties as may be prescribed by these Bylaws, the Delegate Assembly or the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Election of Officers

a. All elective officers of the Association shall be elected at the annual business session of the Delegate Assembly. The officers shall assume official duties at the conclusion of the final session of the Annual Convention following their election. The officers shall hold office for two years or until their successors shall have been duly elected. Upon completion of the term as president-elect, the president-elect shall succeed to the office of president. An officer may not be elected to the same office for more than one term.

b. Whenever an elective office becomes vacant before the completion of a term, the order of succession shall be as follows: The president-elect shall become president; the vice president shall become president-elect; and the Board of Directors may select a vice president.

c. No person shall be eligible for election to an elective office in the Association unless that individual is a member of a school board which is a member of the Association in good standing.

d. Whenever an officer of the Association ceases to be a member of a school board, the individual may continue to serve until the conclusion of the final session of the next Annual Convention.

Section 4. Report of Nominating Committee

a. The Nominating Committee hereinafter established shall prepare a report naming one candidate for the offices of President-Elect and Vice President. The committee shall furnish a copy of its report to the Executive Director not less than 60 days prior to the Annual Convention along with the written consent of the candidates for nomination. The report of the Nominating Committee shall be submitted to the member boards of education at least 15 days in advance of the annual convention.

b. Nominations from the floor may be made at any appropriate time after the list submitted by the Nominating Committee has been placed in nomination and prior to taking a vote. The nominator shall have the written consent of the candidates for nomination for presentation to the presiding officer at the time the nomination is made.

c. Voting where more than one candidate is nominated for a position will be conducted in compliance with the procedure outlined in the most recent edition of *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised*. If there is only one candidate for office, the vote may be by voice. If there is more than one candidate for office, the vote shall be by ballot.

ARTICLE VI - Board of Directors

Section 1. Composition

The Board of Directors shall consist of the officers of the Association, one Director from each geographical district of the Association, one Director representing the state Board of Education and the Immediate Past President so long as the Immediate Past President is a school board member. The Executive Director shall be a non-voting ex-officio member of the Board of Directors. In addition, any Alabama school board member who holds elective office in the National School Boards Association also shall serve as an ex-officio member of the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Meetings

a. **Regular.** Regular meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held twice annually or more often as the Board may decide.

b. **Special.** Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be called by the Executive Director upon request of the President or upon petition by five members of the Board.

c. **Emergency.** In case of an emergency situation, the Executive Director may, upon instruction by the President, initiate an emergency meeting of the Board of Directors for the purpose of transacting urgent business.

d. **Conference Calls.** At the discretion of the President, any meeting of the Board of Directors may be conducted by a conference call.

Section 3. Quorum

A quorum shall consist of eight (8) members of the Board of Directors.

Section 4. Notice

A minimum notice of ten (10) days, which may be waived by the President in case of emergency, shall be given prior to each meeting of the Board of Directors.

Section 5. Duties

a. The Board of Directors, between annual conventions, shall be charged with implementing the purposes of the Association, including the legislative program, and exercising general supervision over its affairs. It shall be charged with the duty of effecting policies and programs adopted at a meeting of the Delegate Assembly.

b. The Board of Directors shall be responsible for preparing and submitting to the Delegate Assembly for its information the Association's annual budget and the expenditures therefrom. Additional duties of the Board of Directors shall include

approval of all presidential committee appointments, acceptance of reports from committees excluding the report of the Nominating Committee, approval of the Association budget, employment of staff, approval of staff recommendations for projects and programs, determination of positions on legislative issues not otherwise determined by actions of the Delegate Assembly and adoption of rules and regulations for the conduct of its business as it shall deem advisable. Policies proposed by the Executive Director shall be acted upon by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall perform such other duties as are usual and customary for governing boards similarly constituted. The Board of Directors shall adopt rules and regulations for the conduct of all committees established by its Bylaws or created by the Board of Directors.

c. The Board of Directors shall employ an Executive Director who shall serve as secretary and treasurer of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VII - Executive Committee

Section 1. Composition

The Executive Committee shall be composed of the Association President, President-Elect, Vice President, Immediate Past President so long as the Immediate Past President is a school board member, and one additional member elected by the Board of Directors from its membership. The Executive Director shall be a non-voting ex-officio member.

Section 2. Duties

a. The Executive Committee shall have and exercise all powers and authority granted by the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee may handle the urgent business of the Association when it is not possible or practical to convene a meeting of the Board. This business is subject to affirmation, when possible, by the Board of Directors at its next meeting.

ARTICLE VIII - Districts

Section 1. Defined

The Board of Directors may provide for the organization and governance of regional divisions of the Association. The Board may authorize the use of Association funds to assist in financing district activities. It may modify the boundaries of any district so created or terminate its existence.

Section 2. District Officers/Directors

Each district may elect such officers as it deems proper for the operation of the district and shall conduct meetings dealing with business matters, including the election of a representative of that district on the Board of Directors. Members of school boards that are Active Members shall be eligible to cast votes, but each school board shall have one vote only.

Section 3. Elections

Any active member can nominate another active member or himself/herself for District Director. Nominations shall be made in writing to the Executive Director by September

1 of the year in which the election is held. The Executive Director shall inform the district membership of the nominees and shall prepare a ballot with all the eligible nominees and send it to each member board in the district prior to October 1. If only one nomination is received, the nominee will become the District Director, and the Executive Director will notify the district. If more than one nomination is received, each board by majority vote will select its nominee and return its ballot to AASB postmarked or received by October 31 with a statement signed by the president that the action was approved in a board meeting. The Executive Director will notify the district membership of the election results as soon as the results are calculated.

If no candidate receives a majority of the votes, a special election will be held at convention and the Executive Director will direct each member board in the district to designate a member to represent it at the special election to elect a District Director.

Section 4. Term

The Directors from their respective geographical divisions shall be elected as provided in this Article except for the Director representing the State Board of Education, who shall be selected by the State Board of Education from among its members. The Directors shall assume official duties at the conclusion of the final session of the Annual Convention following their election. Directors shall hold office for a period of two years or until their successors shall have been duly elected. An individual may not be elected as a Director for more than two complete terms.

No person shall be eligible for election unless that individual is a member of a school board which is a member of the Association in good standing. Whenever a Director of the Association ceases to be a member of the school board, the individual may continue to serve as District Director until the next district meeting or Annual Convention, whichever occurs first.

Whenever the office of District Director becomes vacant, the President, after consultation with the affected district, may appoint a temporary replacement for the affected district.

The person so appointed shall serve until the next meeting of the District or the next Annual Convention, whichever occurs first, at which time an election shall be held for the purpose of naming a permanent Director who shall assume official duties immediately following election.

ARTICLE IX - Committees

Section 1. Standing

The following standing committees shall be appointed by the President of the Association with the approval of the Board of Directors. Standing committees shall be guided by the policy of the Board of Directors.

a. Budget and Finance Committee. It shall be this Committee's duty, in cooperation with the Executive Director, to develop an annual budget providing for the operation of

the Association and to present the same to the Board of Directors for approval prior to the beginning of the new fiscal year.

b. Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee, chaired by the Immediate Past President, so long as the Immediate Past President is a school board member, shall meet at a time and place designated by the Chairman in compliance with Article V, Section 4 of these Bylaws, and shall name one candidate for each office to be filled by election by the Delegate Assembly. Should the position of Immediate Past President be vacant, the President will appoint a Chairman. The Nominating Committee report shall be submitted directly to the Delegate Assembly for action.

c. Legislative Committee. The Legislative Committee shall be comprised of the Executive Committee and other members appointed as defined herein. The Committee shall develop proposals for AASB's state and federal legislative agenda and programs to promote local advocacy.

d. Resolutions Committee. The Resolutions Committee shall meet prior to the Delegate Assembly to review and act on all existing resolutions and other resolutions properly referred to it.

All recommendations for resolutions shall be addressed to the Executive Director and mailed to the office of the State Association in sufficient time to reach that office 90 days prior to the opening date of the Delegate Assembly. The report of the Resolutions Committee shall be made available to member boards 15 days in advance of the Delegate Assembly. The Committee shall conduct a hearing at the site of the Delegate Assembly on proposed resolutions and disposition of other resolutions presented to it.

The Delegate Assembly, by a two-thirds vote of the delegates actually present in the Delegate Assembly meeting and voting at the time of the business session, may call up for consideration on the floor any resolution not recommended by the Committee.

The Resolutions Committee also may prepare original resolutions.

e. Bylaws Committee. The Bylaws Committee shall review the Bylaws annually for needed changes and review all proposed amendments properly submitted by Active Members. The Committee may make nonsubstantive, editorial changes which will be presented to the Delegate Assembly as such and will be deemed approved upon adoption of the Committee's report. The Committee shall offer its report to the Board of Directors for its information and to the Delegate Assembly for action.

Section 2. Special

The President may appoint such special committees as may be determined necessary to carry out the work and purposes of the Association.

ARTICLE X - Conventions and Meetings

Section 1. Time and Place

The Annual Convention of the Association shall be held at a time and place to be determined each year by the Board of Directors.

Section 2. Proceedings

The published proceedings of the Delegate Assembly, or a summary thereof, shall be provided to each member of the respective school boards holding active membership in the Association as soon as practical following the close of the Delegate Assembly.

Section 3. Parliamentary Authority

Questions of parliamentary procedure shall be decided according to the most recent edition of *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised*, unless special rules are adopted by the Delegate Assembly.

Section 4. Delegate Representation

Each Active Member school board shall be entitled to voting delegates at all meetings of the Delegate Assembly based upon the following formula:

Total Pupil Enrollment as Reported in Most Current State Department of Education Statistical Report	Number of Delegates
1 - 4,999	1
5,000 - 9,999	2
10,000 - 14,999	3
15,000 - 19,999	4
20,000 or more	5
State Board of Education, Special Members	1

Each member board shall select its official voting delegate(s) and alternate(s) from its lay membership and shall notify the Association office of said delegates and alternates prior to the Delegate Assembly. Voting shall be in person by respective delegates or alternates.

Section 5. Notice

Notice of the Delegate Assembly shall be given to each member school board at least 30 days before the meeting. Said notice may be given in the form of a letter addressed to the secretary of each member board or it may be published in the official publication of the Association.

Section 6. Special Meetings

Special meetings of the Delegate Assembly may be called by the Board of Directors. Notice of the special meetings shall be given to the secretaries of all member boards of this Association at least 20 days before the meeting.

Section 7. Quorum

A quorum of the Delegate Assembly shall consist of the delegates actually present in the meeting place at the time the business session is called and vote taken.

Section 8. Adoption

A majority vote of the delegates present and voting at the business session shall be required for the election of officers, adoption of resolutions and for the passage of such proposals as may properly come before the delegates.

ARTICLE XI - Expenses of Officers, Directors and Committee Members

Section 1. Reimbursable Expenses

The actual expenses for travel, food and lodging incurred by the officers, directors and members of Association committees attending any and all regular and called meetings of the Board of Directors and committees of this Association shall be reimbursed by this Association.

Section 2. Expense Allowance

The President shall receive a monthly expense allowance of no more than \$300.

ARTICLE XII - National School Boards Association

Section 1. NSBA Membership

The Association shall be a federation member of the National School Boards Association in good standing.

Section 2. NSBA Delegate Assembly

a. Delegate Selection. The elective officers of the association shall serve as the Delegates to the Delegate Assembly of the National School Boards Association and the Immediate Past President shall serve as Alternate Delegate. In the event that an AASB officer is unable to participate in the Delegate Assembly, the Executive Committee may select an individual to serve as a Delegate or Alternate Delegate. In the event minority representation is necessary to comply with the NSBA Bylaws, the Vice President will be an Alternate Delegate and the Board of Directors will select a minority to serve as a Delegate. The Board of Directors also is authorized to select other Alternate Delegates as needed.

b. Expenses. The Association shall pay the full expenses incurred by Delegates and Alternate Delegates attending the NSBA Delegate Assembly and convention.

Section 3. NSBA/Southern Region Delegate Assembly and Committees

a. Delegate, Alternate and Committee Representative Selection. Delegate, alternate and committee representatives shall be selected by the Association Board of Directors. The delegate and alternate also should be committee members. In the event a position as

delegate, alternate or committee representative becomes vacant, the Executive Committee of AASB's Board of Directors may appoint a replacement.

b. Expenses. The association shall pay the full expenses incurred by the delegate, alternate and committee representatives attending the NSBA/Southern Region conference.

ARTICLE XIII - Amendments

Section 1. Adoption

The Bylaws may be amended by a two-thirds vote of all qualified delegates present and voting at the business session of the Delegate Assembly of the Association or any adjourned meeting thereof provided previous notice has been given. Amendments to the bylaws shall become effective upon their adoption by the Delegate Assembly unless otherwise specified.

Section 2. Proposed Amendments

Proposed amendments to the Bylaws shall be submitted through the Executive Director to the Bylaws Committee at least 60 days prior to the date of the Delegate Assembly, and shall be submitted to all active members of the Association at least 15 days prior to the opening day of the Delegate Assembly. No proposed amendment shall be considered by the Assembly unless it is received in accord with the procedures in these bylaws.

ARTICLE XIV

The rules contained in the most current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised*, shall govern the Association in all cases in which they are not inconsistent with these Bylaws and any special rules of order the Association may adopt.

Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 1988
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 1989
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 1990
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 1992
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 1993
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 1994
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 1996
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 1997
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 1998
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 1999
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 2000
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 2001
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 2002
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 2003
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 2004
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 2005
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 2006
Approved by the Delegate Assembly, 2007

AASB OFFICERS

- Sue Helms** President
(Madison City)
- Florence Bellamy** President-Elect
(Phenix City)
- Steve Foster** Vice President
(Lowndes County)
- Jim Methvin** Immediate Past President
(Alabama School of Fine Arts)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- Patsy Black** District 1
(Monroe County)
- Bill Minor** District 2
(Dallas County)
- Jeff Bailey** District 3
(Covington County)
- Katy Smith Campbell** District 4
(Macon County)
- Jennifer Parsons** District 5
(Jefferson County)
- Sue Jones** District 6
(Jacksonville)
- Susan Harris** District 7
(Winfield)
- Pam Doyle** District 8
(Muscle Shoals)
- Laura Casey** District 9
(Albertville)
- Sandra Hall Ray** State Board